
 

Board of Directors 
Allen Putnam, Jacksonville Beach – Chair Brian Horton, Kissimmee 
Robert C. Page, Green Cove Springs – Vice Chair Mike Beckham, Lakeland 
Ed Liberty, Lake Worth Beach – Treasurer Brad Chase, Leesburg 
Lynne Tejeda, Key West – Secretary Larry Tibbs, Moore Haven 
Rodolfo Valladares, Alachua Steve Langley, Mount Dora 
Laura Simpson, Bartow Rance Green, Newberry 
Traci Hall, Blountstown  Efren Chavez, New Smyrna Beach 
Christina Farmer, Bushnell Janice Mitchell, Ocala 
Vacant, Chattahoochee Clint Bullock, Orlando 
Lynne Mila, Clewiston Vacant, Quincy 
Steve Doyle, Fort Meade Kolby Urban, St. Cloud 
Javier Cisneros, Fort Pierce Drew Mullins, Starke 
Dino DeLeo, Gainesville Tony Guillen, Tallahassee 
Kendrah Wilkerson, Havana James Braddock, Wauchula 
Barbara Quiñones, Homestead Rob Kilian, Williston 
Ricky Erixton, Jacksonville Jamie England, Winter Park 
 

 

FMPA BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
AGENDA PACKAGE 

 
 

February 12, 2026 
9:00 a.m. [NOTE TIME] 

Dial-in info: 1-321-299-0575 
Conference ID Number: 218 564 708 544 9# 

Meeting Location 
Florida Municipal Power Agency  

8553 Commodity Circle 
Orlando, FL 32819 

(407) 355-7767 

Page 1 of 107



MEMORANDUM 
TO: FMPA Board of Directors 
FROM: Jacob A. Williams, General Manager and CEO 
DATE: Thursday, February 05, 2026, REV Wednesday, February 11, 2026 
RE: FMPA Board of Directors Meeting – 9:00 a.m., [THURSDAY, FEBRUARY 12, 

2026 

PLACE: Florida Municipal Power Agency 
8553 Commodity Circle, Orlando, FL 32819 
Fredrich M. Bryant Board Room 

DIAL-IN: DIAL-IN INFO 321-299-0575, Meeting Number 218 564 708 544 9# 
(If you have trouble connecting via phone or internet, call 407-355-7767) 

LINK: Join the meeting now

(If you have trouble connecting via phone or internet, call 407-355-7767) 

AGENDA 

Chairperson Allen Putnam, Presiding 

1. Call to Order, Roll Call, Declaration of Quorum ............................................... 4 

2. Recognition of Guests ........................................................................................ 5 

3. Public Comments (Individual public comments limited to 3 minutes) ........... 6 

4. Set Agenda (by vote) .......................................................................................... 7 

5. Report from the General Manager – Winter Storm Fern Impacts and Goals
Scorecard (Jacob Williams) ............................................................................... 9 

6. Sunshine Law Update (Dan O’Hagan) ............................................................. 34 

Page 2 of 107

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_YjRmMzVjZWEtYTc5Yy00NTQxLThmMzEtMmQ4NTc0NzIzZGE3%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%22ef0d3ba4-6530-433d-874d-37b1691285dd%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%223ee0825e-04a0-4b0d-abbc-60ac7456d810%22%7d


FMPA Board of Directors Meeting Being Held February 12, 2026 
February 05, 2026 
Page 2 
 
 

   
 

 
7. Consent Agenda 

a. Approval of the Minutes for the Meeting Held January 15, 2026 ................... 40 

b. Approval of the Projects’ Preliminary Financials as of December 31, 2025 ... 45 

c. Approval of the Treasury Reports as of December 31, 2025 ......................... 47 

8. Action Items 
a. None ............................................................................................................ 50 

 

9. Information Items 
a. Annual Debt Report (Sena Mitchell) * ........................................................... 52 

b. Stanton Unit 1 Retirement Update (Jody Finklea)*  ...................................... 67 

c. Meet Your Power Plant: Bartow Energy Center (Joe Shaffer) .................... 100 

 
10. Member Comments  ........................................................................................ 106 
 
11. Adjournment ................................................................................................... 107 
 
*Also on the Executive Committee agenda. 
 
JW/su 
 
NOTE: One or more participants in the above referenced public meeting may participate by telephone. At 
the above location there will be a speaker telephone so that any interested person can attend this public 
meeting and be fully informed of the discussions taking place either in person or by telephone 
communication. If anyone chooses to appeal any decision that may be made at this public meeting, such 
person will need a record of the proceedings and should accordingly ensure that a verbatim record of the 
proceedings is made, which includes the oral statements and evidence upon which such appeal is based. 
This public meeting may be continued to a date and time certain, which will be announced at the meeting. 
Any person requiring a special accommodation to participate in this public meeting because of a disability, 
should contact FMPA at (407) 355-7767 or (888) 774-7606, at least two (2) business days in advance to 
make appropriate arrangements. 

 

Page 3 of 107



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 1 - CALL TO ORDER, 
ROLL CALL, DECLARATION OF 
QUORUM 
 
 
Board of Directors Meeting  
February 12, 2026 
 

Page 4 of 107



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 2 – RECOGNITION OF 
GUESTS 
 
 
Board of Directors Meeting  
February 12, 2026 
 

Page 5 of 107



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 3 – PUBLIC 
COMMENTS (Individual Public 
Comments Limited to 3 Minutes) 
 
 
Board of Directors Meeting  
February 12, 2026 
 

Page 6 of 107



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 4 – SET AGENDA (By 
Vote) 
 
 
Board of Directors Meeting  
[February 12, 2026 
 
 

Page 7 of 107



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 5 – REPORT FROM 
THE GENERAL MANAGER-WINTER 
STORM FERN IMPACTS AND GOALS 
SCORECARD 
 
 
Board of Directors Meeting  
February 12, 2026 
 

Page 8 of 107



1

Board of Directors

GM Comments Super Bowl Fern
Event, Outcome and Lessons

February 12, 2026
Page 9 of 107



Winter Storm Fern – 1 in 100 Year Extreme Cold in FL

• Fern brought record cold temps/wind chills in Central & South Florida

• Florida all-time "needle peak" forecast - 6 – 9 am and 6 – 9 pm challenge/opportunity

• Loads and plants operating in conditions not contemplated, especially Sunday

• Challenging Sun. 2/1, FMPA Fleet Team Halftime adjustments & delivered Mon. 2/2

• Early-action on options paid off 2/2 – offset forecast of 12% increase over 2/1

• Members and their customers big part of solution – City/utility & Publix generation

• Customer communications critical to shifting use out of 6 – 9 am Monday window

• Municipals have unique advantages - customer generation & customer communication

• FDEP and DOE provided important utility & customer-owned generation support
2

Great Generation, Fuels, Operations, Customer, FDEP & DOE Support

Winning Super Bowl Fern – All Options Needed to Serve All Time Peak

Page 10 of 107



0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

4,500

1/31/26
12:00

1/31/26
18:00

2/1/26
0:00

2/1/26
6:00

2/1/26
12:00

2/1/26
18:00

2/2/26
0:00

2/2/26
6:00

2/2/26
12:00

FM
PP

 To
ta

l L
oa

d 
(M

W
)

Load Forecast for Sat-
Mon as of Tuesday 1/27

Load Forecast for Sat-Mon 
as of Saturday 1/31

FMPP Load Forecast for Monday - Potential Load Shed

3

Generation Capacity of ~4,200 MW Assuming No Generation Loss

Page 11 of 107



Wind Chill LowDaily low

MIA

35°F
New Record Low

22°F

1-in-100 Year Historic Cold for Central/South FL

4

Lowest Recorded Wind-Chill In Last 100 Years for Orlando & Miami

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

23 27 31 35 39 42 43 47 51 53 56 59 62 65 68 71 74 77

N
um

be
r o

f D
ay

s 

Temperature

2/1/26

AVG

Wind Chill LowDaily lowWind Chill LowDaily low 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

4 9 13 17 21 26 30 34 38 51 54 57 60 63 66 69 72

N
um

be
r o

f D
ay

s 
Temperature

AVG

2/1/26

24°F

MCO

New Record LowBoth #9 coldest since 1996

22°F 1.9°F 4.7°F

JAX

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

-2 2 6 10 14 19 23 27 31 35 39 52 55 58 61 64 67 70

N
um

be
r o

f D
ay

s 

Temperature

2/1/26

AVG

Page 12 of 107



Extreme Cold Beyond Winterization Plan, Adjusted

• Orlando temps of 24 degrees lower than FMPA winterization plan for 32 degrees
• 2.5% avg. forced outage rate challenged in extreme cold, 10% more likely
 FMPP 20 units, 100+ MW - likely 2 units would fail
 4 units failed Sunday morning
 Numerous "halftime" adjustments Sunday pm - No large unit failures Monday

• Long planned TCEC double major outage started Friday night, determined on 
Tuesday no way to return to service by Sat/Sun

• FMPA uprated units 82 MW for winter during Fall '25, all were used
• 24 MW of additional uprates at SLEC, BEC & MEC -  transmission
• Environmental engagement & waiver with FDEP & DOE critical to achieve unit 

uprates
5

TCEC Long Planned Major 4 Days In, No Way to Get Back

Page 13 of 107



24 Degree Air Temps and 6 Degree Windchills Created

6

Challenging Environments for Plants to Operate

Ice on 
new SLEC 
cooling 
tower

Cane Island 
4  - various 
instrument 
tubing 
failures

Iron 
piping 
froze and 
cracked

Ice on Cane 
Island 
equipment 
created 
challenges 
for repairs

Page 14 of 107



Team Implemented Mitigations Sun. PM & Early Mon.

7

Hard Work & Innovative Solutions Made Units Available Monday

Mulberry 
constructed 
multiple 
coverings to 
insulate and 
heat critical 
equipment

Sand Lake used 
common house 
insulation to 
protect vital 
equipment & 
transmitters

Page 15 of 107



Member & Customer Engagement Early

• Load forecast Tuesday – Saturday - significant stress on Monday a.m.
 Wide load forecast error given limited data on potential temperature & wind chill range
 Flawless generation performance required & still may not be enough
 All options needed to be available early

• Monday needle peak provided opportunity to "shift use" out of 3-hour window
• Members and their customers actions key options – need communication/coordination early

 Member & customer generation reduced load  –  Members back-up generation & Publix
 Customer shifting use out 6 – 9 am window required significant communications

• Needed removal air & operating permit concerns for member/customer generation – DOE in PJM
• DOE out-reach via 3rd party Wednesday night – very responsive obtaining Sec. 202c order
• Members actively engaged city/utilities/customers with backup generation on Thursday/Friday
• Customer load shifting communications ramped up Friday

8

Critically Important to Shifting Use from Needle Peak

Page 16 of 107



Members Bring 53 MW of Generation to Reduce Load

Member 
Backup

Nameplate 
(MW)

Bushnell 1.3 

Clewiston 1.0 

Fort Pierce 5.6 

Green Cove 
Springs 1.5 

Havana 0.6 

Beaches 
Energy 4.0 

Keys Energy 2.3 

Kissimmee 6.6 

9

FMPP Members & Publix Lowered Demand More Than ~74 MW

Publix Nameplate (MW)

ARP Served Cities 13.5

FMPP Total 35.0

All In Totals Nameplate (MW)

Member Backup 39.3

Publix 35.0

Total FMPP 74.3

Member 
Backup

Nameplate 
(MW)

Lake Worth 
Beach 4.2 

Leesburg 0.4 

Newberry 3.2 

Ocala 6.6 

Starke 1.0 

Williston 0.1 

Winter Park 1.1

Page 17 of 107



Proactive Outreach To Customers Helped Lower Loads

10

What Steps To Take During Critical Hours To Shift Use

Page 18 of 107



0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

4,500

1/31/26 12:00 1/31/26 18:00 2/1/26 0:00 2/1/26 6:00 2/1/26 12:00 2/1/26 18:00 2/2/26 0:00 2/2/26 6:00 2/2/26 12:00

FM
PP

 To
ta

l L
oa

d 
(M

W
)

Sunday morning peak 
~3,650 MW 7-8am

100 MW lower, 1 hour 
earlier than forecast

Sunday evening peak 
~3,280 MW 7-8pm

Over 300 MW lower 
than forecast

Monday morning peak 
~3,720 MW 7-8am

480 MW lower than 
forecast

FMPP Needle Peak Load Ramp Lower Than Forecast

11

Customer Use of Shifting and Back-up Generation Huge Relief

Load Forecast for Sat-Mon 
as of Tuesday 1/27

Load Forecast for Sat-Mon 
as of Saturday 1/31

Page 19 of 107



Market Signaling Little To No Liquidity Pre-Weekend

• No utilities offering to sell power going into weekend

• One bid to buy at $2,000/MWh for weekend

• Energy power sold for $1,500 – 2,000/MWh

• FGT Zone 3, city gates, and dispatch prices $40 - $80/MMBtu 
o Means $400 – 1,000/MWh for gas-based peakers

• Favors diesel runs at ~$200/MWh

12

High Prices For Delivered Gas Drove Diesel Runs For Savings

Gas Zone High Price Date 
FGT Zone 3 $39.38 Jan-27

FGT City Gates $64.11 Feb-01
FMPP Dispatch $78.00 Feb-01

Fuel Oil $18.79 Jan-29

Page 20 of 107



Tight Reserve Margins Across Entire FRCC Region

• Several utilities concerned of being at some 
level of emergency on Friday

• Conservative operations declared for Fri 
midnight through Tue noon

• Generating Capacity Advisory issued Fri 
afternoon for Sun-Mon risk

• No BA entered Sunday in EEA
• FMPP declared EEA3 Sun morning

 Due to loss of >1200 MW of generation

• 3 BAs in EEA1 on Mon  –  One went to EEA2
 FMPP no issues, able to sell to help others

• 1 BA in EEA1 briefly Tues. morning
13

4 Balancing Authorities in EEA Sometime During Sunday - Tuesday

En
er

gy
 E

m
er

ge
nc

y 
Al

er
t  

(E
EA

) 
Le

ve
ls

EEA 1 – All resources in use

EEA 2 – Load management in effect

EEA 3 – Firm load shed imminent

Page 21 of 107



FGU Worked With FMPA Generation and FMPP

• Pre-storm procured Texas gas delivery points avoid FGT Zone 3 cut risk

 Total physical gas cuts 81k dth, FGU resupplied 77% of cuts

• Purchasing Gulfstream & FGT allowed Cane Island & Oleander to run 

Gulfstream Delivered: 20k dth day-ahead, 35k Intraday, normal 5k

• Joint DPOA benefited all parties, saved millions

 Significant volume moved between FMPA, OUC and Tallahassee to 
avoid penalties - moved unneeded gas to systems able to use

14

No Penalty Gas Purchased With Plant Operational Changes 

Page 22 of 107



Gas, Coal, Diesel, & Nuke 100% FMPP Supply at Peak 

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

4,500

1/31/26 12:00 1/31/26 18:00 2/1/26 0:00 2/1/26 6:00 2/1/26 12:00 2/1/26 18:00 2/2/26 0:00 2/2/26 6:00 2/2/26 12:00

G
en

er
at

io
n 

(M
W

)

15

Morning 8 AM And Evening 8 PM Peaks ~0 MW Solar
Sun morning 
peak 7-8am

Sun evening 
peak 7-8pm

Mon morning 
peak 7-8am

Nuclear

Coal

Natural Gas

Diesel

Solar

Page 23 of 107



Florida 100% Gas, Coal, Diesel & Nuke - Monday Peak

16

Monday Morning Peak at 8:00 am Essentially No Solar

0K

10K

20K

30K

40K

50K

60K

1/31/2026 12:00 1/31/2026 18:00 2/1/2026 0:00 2/1/2026 6:00 2/1/2026 12:00 2/1/2026 18:00 2/2/2026 0:00 2/2/2026 6:00 2/2/2026 12:00

Ge
ne

ra
tio

n 
(M

W
)

Nuclear
Coal

Natural Gas/Diesel

Petroleum Solar

Other(solid waste)

Mon morning 
peak 7-8am

Sun morning 
peak 8-9 am

Page 24 of 107



Super Bowl Fern – Historic Cold in Florida

• Fern record cold in Central & South Florida

• Florida "needle peaks" challenge & 
opportunity

• Challenging Sunday, FMPP Halftime 
adjustments successful

• Early-action on back-up generation and 
customer "use shifting" paid off 

• Municipal advantage access to City/utility 
back-up generation & customer comms

• FDEP and DOE provided important support 
for utility & back-up generation

17

All Options and Teams Needed to Win

Page 25 of 107



Mitigation Saved Members $22.5 Million

• January was 60% mitigated with NYMEX contracts at the end of December, 
o Realized gain on positions $760k

• Team continued to match 60% mitigation with "First of Month" gas
o FOM vs daily natural gas avoidance of $16.4M

• Natural Gas Storage vs daily natural gas: ~$2.6 million vs daily market 

• Diesel Oil burns vs daily natural gas: $2.75 million vs daily market

• Mitigation Strategy kept Members' cost lower by $22.5M or $48 MWh

18

Jan 60% Mitigated with FOM Gas @ $4.68 vs $13.81 Average Dispatch

Page 26 of 107



Goal Status Actual
YTD 

Actual
YTD 

Target
FY 2026 
Target Comment

1. Safety
Lost-time Accidents 0 0 0 0

OSHA Recordables 2 2 0 0

2. Compliance

Environmental 0 0 0 0 Zero compliance violations

NERC in person Audit Feb. 17 & 
Cane Island review Feb. 18

Financial 0

Regulatory
Successful Audit 0

3. Low Cost
($/MWh)

FY26 Rate Objective $100.88 $96.01 $92.10 $81.00
Costs shown through 
December.  January data not 
yet available.

Fuel $41.75 $36.42 $34.94 $29.87

Non-Fuel $59.13 $59.60 $57.16 $51.13

4. Establish Florida 
New Nuclear Effort

Meeting with new FPL 
President and current CEO 
March 11.  Follow-up with Duke 
as well

Fiscal Year 2026 Management Goals – January Data

Page 27 of 107



$0.00

$1.00

$2.00

$3.00

$4.00

$5.00

$6.00

$7.00

$8.00

$/
M

M
Bt

u

NYMEX Contract 
Settlement

Gas Prices Remain Below Budget as Winter Turns Wild

2

Unfortunate Timing Led to a February Blow Out   

Fiscal Year 
2026 Budget

Forward Curve 
as of 2/11

Forward Curve 
30 Days Ago

Page 28 of 107



Gas Storage Reached New Peak Before Winter Demand

3

2026 Outlook Looking to Follow 2025 Lead
Tc

f

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.5

4.0

1 4 7 10 13 16 19 22 25 28 31 34 37 40 43 46 49 52

2024
2025
2026
Forecast
Avg

Projected 2026 
Inventory

Page 29 of 107



Projections up from Prior Month w/ Higher Gas Curve

4

February Projected 35% Higher than Prior Forecast
All-in Rate Projections through FY 2027 ($/MWh) *

86 

73 
77 

69 
74 76 

88 
100 

102 101 

134 

96 
91 

78 76 76 76 80 
102 99 

91 88 

75 73 73 75 79 

Apr 25 Jul 25 Oct 25 Jan 26 Apr 26 Jul 26

Actual Billed

Current 
Month 

Projections

Prior Month 
Projections

* Reflects billed rate, which includes cash adjustment

Page 30 of 107



Goal Status Actual
YTD 

Actual
YTD 

Target
FY 2026 
Target Comment

5.Cyber-  
 security

Breaches 0 0 0 0

Phishing Test Clicks
Real Phishes Reported

6.5%
8

7.7%
42

<5%
40

<5%
120

6. Reliability

Base Generation EAF 91% 90% 89% 90%
TCEC in planned outage

SI CT1 and MSD2 planned outage

Intermediate Gen EAF 100% 78% 80% 89%

Peaking Generation EAF 81% 90% 94% 92%

Successful SI Starts 100% 100% 100% 100%

7. Member
 Reliability

Reliability Major 2 7 4 12 Ocala ERP Tabletop in planning
Lakeland Peer Reviews (2)
Starke Cap Banks
GRU Line Upgrade RFPReliability Minor 3 9 6 18

8. Member
     Services

Leadership
Member Visits 5 24 25 75

Certified Power Supervisor Classes

FMPP, Energy Freedom & GE 7FA 
Users Conference

Member Roundtable & 
Training Attendance 30 162 133 400

Stakeholder 
Presentations 2 4 6 25 Page 31 of 107



Goal Status Actual
YTD 

Actual
YTD 

Target
FY 2026 
Target Comment

9. Long-Term      
Capacity & 
Reliability

Plant Capacity Uprates
Win 
106

Sum 4
4 MW 4 MW 15 MW

>106 MW Winter rating inc. 
Including 24 MW via trans. 
waiver

7 bids received 

EC approved increase capital 
plan

Keys Battery Decision Bids 
Received

Go/
No Go

CI Sable Trail Connection Constr. 
Started

10. Financing 
& Long-
Term Rate 
Reductions

Pre-pay Gas/Solar 1 1 1 1
Completed solar/gas pre-pay 
6% or $800K annual savings

Won LWB/Homestead 67MW
Winter sales (Jan/Feb) & new 
1/1 sales $25+M pace.
Jan. margin data not available

External Sales – Margins $2.2M $4.2M $5.5M $22M

Complete Bond Financings 1

11. People
Plant Onboarding/Training 1/1 Close 1/1 Close Close Complete by 

02/15
Bartow post close integration 
continues, training ongoing

Agency & Plant Engagement 80%

12. Other
Maintain seat at table at 

Federal level representing 
ARP for abundant, low-cost, 

and reliable power

Energy Freedom led to directly 
to DOE for Sec. 202c waivers.
April Energy Freedom with 
highest U.S. Energy stakeholders

Page 32 of 107



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 6 – SUNSHINE LAW 
UPDATE 
 
 
Board of Directors Meeting 
February 12, 2026 
 
 

Page 33 of 107



FMPA Board of Directors

6 – Sunshine Law Update

February 12, 2026
Page 34 of 107



A Note of Caution on AI Notes

• “Public Record” = Any record made or received in connection with 
agency business used to perpetuate, communicate, or formalize 
knowledge

• Are “notes” a public record?
 Yes, IF they are used to “perpetuate, communicate, or formalize knowledge.”

• Shared with others? Stored on agency drive/files for others to view? Filed to memorialize 
decision making process?

 Notes to self, “which are designed for their own personal use in remembering 
certain things do not fall within the definition of ‘public record.’”

2

Meeting Notes & the Florida Public Record Law

Page 35 of 107



3Page 36 of 107



A Note of Caution on AI Notes

• Are AI Notes used to “perpetuate, communicate, formalize knowledge” or 
are they “notes to self?”
 Are they shared with others? Are they stored on agency drive? Are they available for 

others to view?

• Use of AI Notes at public meeting vs. non-public meeting
• Other issues to consider
 Discussing confidential information
 Attorney-Client privilege; Discussion of legal strategies
 Legal discovery
 Mischaracterization of discussion

4

AI Notes may Create Unintended Public Records

Page 37 of 107



Example – TAPS Draft Policy on AI Note Taking

5Page 38 of 107



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 7 – CONSENT 
AGENDA  
 
a. Approval of the Minutes for the 

Meeting Held January 15, 2026 
 

 
Board of Directors Meeting 
February 12, 2026 
 

Page 39 of 107



CLERKS DULY NOTIFIED ..................................................................... January 08, 2026 
AGENDA PACKAGES POSTED ............................................................ January 08, 2026 
 

MINUTES 
FMPA BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 

THURSDAY, JANUARY 15, 2026 
FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY 

8553 COMMODITY CIRCLE 
ORLANDO, FL 32819 

 
PARTICIPANTS   Michael Poucher, Bartow 
PRESENT:  Lynne Mila, Clewiston 

Steve Doyle, Fort Meade (virtual) 
Javier Cisneros, Fort Pierce  
Dino DeLeo, Gainesville (virtual) 
Bob Page, Green Cove Springs  

 Allen Putnam, Jacksonville Beach   
 Lynne Tejeda, Key West (virtual) 
 Jason Terry, Kissimmee 
 Ed Liberty, Lake Worth Beach 
 Michael Beckham, Lakeland (virtual) 
 Brad Chase, Leesburg * (virtual) 
 Steve Langley, Mount Dora (virtual) 
 Efren Chavez, New Smyrna Beach (virtual) 
 Doug Peebles, Ocala   
 Clint Bullock, Orlando  
 Kolby Urban, St. Cloud (virtual) 
 Drew Mullins, Starke 
 Lisa Vedder, Winter Park  

 
   *arrived after roll call 
 
OTHERS   Grant Lacerte, Kissimmee 
PRESENT Justin Buckman, Kissimmee (virtual) 
 Kevin Crawford (virtual) 
 Brian King, Lake Worth Beach (virtual) 
 Tory Bombard, Lakeland (virtual)  
 Chad Lynch, Ocala 
 Attila Miszti Orlando (virtual) 
 Wade Gillingham, Orlando (virtual) 
 Troy Rivera, Orlando (virtual) 
 James Hughes, Starke 
 Eric Walters, Tallahassee (virtual) 
 Steve Stein, nFront Consulting *(virtual)  
 Kristina Angiulli, Enercon 
 Mike Mace, PFM 
 Matt Ganoe, Purvis Gray 
 Tim Westgate Purvis Gray  
 Mike Peters, WPPI Energy 

Page 40 of 107



Board of Directors Meeting Minutes 
January 15, 2026 
Page 2 of 4 
 
 
STAFF Jacob Williams, General Manager and CEO 
PRESENT Jody Finklea, General Counsel and Chief Legal Officer 

Ken Rutter, Chief Operating Officer 
Rich Popp, Chief Financial Officer 
Chris Gowder, Chief System Operations and Technology Officer 
Dan O’Hagan, Deputy General Counsel and Manager of  
     Regulatory Compliance 
Sue Utley, Executive Asst. /Asst. Secy. to the Board 
Sharon Adams, Chief People and Member Services Officer 
Lindsay Jack, Executive Assistant Support Coordinator 
Susan Schumann, Public Relations and External Affairs Manager  
John Bradley, Business Development Analyst 
Emily Maag, Senior Public Relations Specialist  
Sena Mitchell, Treasury Manager 
Navid Nowakhtar Member Services Strategic Planning & Analytics Vice 

President 
Mike McCleary, Senior Manager of Member Services  
LaKenya VanNorman, Senior Regulatory Compliance Specialist 
Mary Kathryn Patterson, Senior Public Relations Specialist 
Jason Wolfe, Financial Planning Rates and Budget Director 
Andrei Benjamin, Cloud Systems Administrator  
Danyel Sullivan-Marrero, Controller 
Akeim March, Information Technology Support specialist 
Justin M. Wolfe, Plant Manger  
 

ITEM 1 - CALL TO ORDER, ROLL CALL, AND DECLARATION OF QUORUM 
 
Chair Allen Putnam, Jacksonville Beach, called the FMPA Board of Directors meeting to 
order at 9:00a.m., Thursday January 15, 2026, in the Frederick M. Bryant Board Room at 
Florida Municipal Power Agency, 8553 Commodity Circle, Orlando, Florida. The roll was 
taken, and a quorum was declared with 18 members present representing 30 votes out of a 
possible 49.5 votes.  
 
ITEM 2 – RECOGNITION OF GUESTS 
 
Mike Peters CEO of WPPI 
 
ITEM 3 – PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 
None.  
 
ITEM 4 – SET AGENDA (BY VOTE) 
 
MOTION: Doug Peebles, Ocala, moved approval of the agenda as presented. Drew Mullins, 
Starke, seconded the motion. Motion carried 32-0. 

Page 41 of 107



Board of Directors Meeting Minutes 
January 15, 2026 
Page 3 of 4 
 
 
ITEM 5 – REPORT FROM GENERAL MANAGER 
 

1. Goals Scorecard  
2. APPA Joint Action Conference  
3. FPL Peninsular Florida transmission rate increase effective January 1 

(per prior settlement)  
- Network Transmission Service: $3.50/kW-mo. => $3.95/kW-

mo. (approx. +13%)  
- Point-to-Point Transmission: Approx. 13% increase (Actual rates depend on 

length of service – daily, weekly, monthly, yearly) 
4. Bartow Energy Center closing and $3.5 million + worth of inventory. 
5. Status of Stanton 1  
6. Whistling Duck Solar online December 29, 2025 
7. SERC Audit & updates 

Brad Chase, Leesburg joined meeting at 9:17 a.m., bringing the number of Members present 
to 19 members representing 32 votes out of a possible 49.5 votes. 

 
ITEM 6 – SUNSHINE LAW UPDATE 
 
Dan O’Hagan provided the Sunshine Law update on Public Records Law bills filed during this 
legislative session.  
 
ITEM 7 –CONSENT AGENDA 
 

a. Approval of Meeting Minutes – Meetings Held December 11, 2025 
b. Approval of the Projects’ Preliminary Financials as of November 30, 2025 
c. Approval of Treasury Reports – As of November 30, 2025 
d. Approval of Procurement Policy Documentation 

 
MOTION: Drew Mullins, Starke, moved approval of the Consent Agenda as presented. Javier 
Cisneros, Fort Pierce, seconded the motion. Motion carried 32-0. 
 
ITEM 8 – ACTION ITEMS: 
 

a. Approval of PFM Contract Extension * 
 
Sena Mitchell presented the PFM contract extension. 
 
MOTION: Drew Mullins, Starke, moved approval of a two-year extension for PFM Financial 
Advisory Services. Javier Cisneros, Fort Pierce, seconded the motion. Motion carried 32-0. 

Page 42 of 107



Board of Directors Meeting Minutes 
January 15, 2026 
Page 4 of 4 
 
 

b. Approval of Audited Financial Statements * 
 
Danyel Sulivan-Marrero & Tim Westgate of Purvis Gray & CO. presented the audited 
financial statements.  
 
MOTION: Javier Cisneros, Fort Pierce moved approval of the FY 2025 external audit report 
and audited financial statements. Drew Mullins, Starke, seconded the motion. Motion carried 
32-0. 
 
ITEM 9 – INFORMATION ITEMS: 
 

a. Presentation of Member Services Provided by WPPI 
 
Mike Peters, CEO of WPPI, presented the member services provided by WPPI. 
 

b. Florida Municipal Solar Projects Update and Revised Board Voting Schedule 
 
Susan Schumann presented the Solar Projects’ update and revised board voting schedule.  
 

c. Know Your Power Plant – Mulberry Energy Center 
 
Jason M. Wolfe provided the Mulberry Energy Center presentation. 
 
ITEM 10 – Member Comments 
 
None. 
 
ITEM 11 – Adjournment  
 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 10:36 a.m. 
 
 
 
              
Allen Putnam       Lynne Tejeda 
Chairperson, Board of Directors    Secretary 
 
 
 
 
Approved:         Seal 
 
BQ/su 

Page 43 of 107



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 7 – CONSENT 
AGENDA  
 
b. Approval of the Projects’ 

Preliminary Financials as of 
December 31, 2025 

 
 
Board of Directors Meeting 
February 12, 2026 
 

Page 44 of 107



 

 

 

 
AGENDA PACKAGE MEMORANDUM 

 
TO: FMPA Board of Directors 
FROM: Rich Popp 
DATE: February 5, 2026 
SUBJECT: 7b – Approval of Projects’ Financials as of December 31, 2025 
 
 
 
Discussion:          The summary financial statements and detailed financial statements, which 

include GASB #62 transactions, of the Projects for the period ended 
December 31, 2025, are posted on the Document Portal section of FMPA’s 
website.  

______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Recommended: Move approval of the Projects’ Financial Reports for the month ended 

December 31, 2025. 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
RP/GF 
 

Page 45 of 107



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 7 – CONSENT 
AGENDA  
 
c. Approval of the Treasury Reports 

as of December 31, 2026 
 

 
Board of Directors Meeting 
February 12, 2026 

Page 46 of 107



 

    
    
    
              
    

 
AGENDA PACKAGE MEMORANDUM 

 
TO: FMPA Board of Directors 

FROM: Patrick Grogan 

DATE: February 5, 2026  

ITEM: BOD 7(c) – Approval of Treasury Reports as of December 31, 2025     

 
 
Introduction This agenda item is a quick summary update of the Treasury  
 Department’s functions.    
 
 The Treasury Department reports for December are posted in the member 

portal section of FMPA’s website. 
 

 
Debt Discussion Below is a summary of the total debt outstanding and the percentage of 

debt that was fixed, variable or synthetically fixed with interest rate swaps 
as of December 31, 2025.  

 

  
Total debt 

Outstanding Fixed Rate 
Variable 

Rate 
Synthetically 

Fixed 
Agency 776,039.88 100% 0% 0% 
St Lucie 44,920,000.00 100% 0% 0% 
Stanton II 37,788,437.09 100% 0% 0% 

 
 

 
 
Investment 
Discussion The investments in the Projects are comprised of debt from the 

government-sponsored enterprises such as the Federal Farm Credit Bank, 
Federal Home Loan Bank, Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 
(Freddie Mac), and Federal National Mortgage Association (Fannie Mae), as 
well as investments in U.S. Treasuries, Certificates of Deposits, Commercial 
Paper, Municipal Bonds, Corporate Notes, Local Government Investment 
Pools, and Money Market Mutual Funds.   

 
 
 

Page 47 of 107



 
 
 
BOD 7 (c) – Approval of Treasury Reports as of December 31, 2025     
Page 2 
 
 

Below is a graph of the rolling 12-month average US Treasury yields for the past 
year. The orange line is the 2-year Treasury which had a rolling 12-month average 
yield on December 31, 2025, of 3.75%. The yellow line is the 5-year Treasury rolling 
12-month average yield which was 3.85%. 

 

  

0.00%

0.75%

1.50%

2.25%

3.00%

3.75%

4.50%

5.25%

De
c-

24

Ja
n-

25

Fe
b-

25

M
ar

-2
5

Ap
r-

25

M
ay

-2
5

Ju
n-

25

Ju
l-2

5

Au
g-

25

Se
p-

25

O
ct

-2
5

N
ov

-2
5

De
c-

25

US Treasury Securities Rolling 12 Month Average Yields
1-Year History

2-Yr Treasury Yield 5-Yr Treasury Yield

Page 48 of 107



 
 
 
BOD 7 (c) – Approval of Treasury Reports as of December 31, 2025     
Page 3 
 
 

The rolling 12- month weighted average yields on investments earned as of 
December 31, 2025, in the Projects, along with their benchmark (Average of Florida 
Prime Fund and 2-year treasury), are as follows:  
 
 

 
 

 
 
Recommended 
Motion Move approval of the Treasury Reports for December 31, 2025. 
 

0.00%

0.75%

1.50%

2.25%

3.00%

3.75%

4.50%

5.25%

6.00%

De
c-

24

Ja
n-

25

Fe
b-

25

M
ar

-2
5

Ap
r-

25

M
ay

-2
5

Ju
n-

25

Ju
l-2

5

Au
g-

25

Se
p-

25

O
ct

-2
5

N
ov

-2
5

De
c-

25

FMPA's Rolling 12-Month Weighted Average Yields vs Benchmark
1-Year History

 Benchmark St. Lucie Stanton Stanton II Tri -City Agency

Page 49 of 107



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 AGENDA ITEM 8 – ACTION ITEMS 
 
a. None 
 
Board of Directors Meeting 
February 12, 2026 
 
 

Page 50 of 107



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 9 – INFORMATION 
ITEMS 
 
a. Annual Debt Report  

 
 
 

Board of Directors Meeting 
February 12, 2026 
 

Page 51 of 107



Board of Directors

9a – Annual Debt Report as of Sept. 30, 2025

February 12, 2026
Page 52 of 107



100% of Project Debt is Fixed

2

Closed on the ARP 2025A $208.830 million Fixed Rate bond issue 8/13/25

Total Fixed Rate Debt:
$817,830,199

100%

Includes All of FMPA Debt 

Page 53 of 107



FMPA’s Total Debt Decreased By $27.8M in 2025

3

ARP Reduced Debt Even With $50M New Money for Plant Investments

Project
9/30/25  

$'s in 000's
9/30/24  

$'s in 000's
Debt Reduction  

 $'s in 000's

All-Requirements 719,485 732,410 (12,925)

St Lucie 47,810 50,600 (2,790)

Stanton II 49,645 61,639 (11,994)

Agency 890 1,000 (110)

Total $817,830 $845,649 ($27,819)

Page 54 of 107



True Interest Cost of Debt by Project

4

FY 27 Last Year Agency Pooled Loan of 7.25%

0.00%

1.00%

2.00%

3.00%

4.00%

5.00%

6.00%

7.00%

8.00%

3.38%

1.78%

0.00%

3.97%

0.00%

7.25%

Page 55 of 107



Stanton II General Reserve Will Fund Final Payment

5

No Additional Rate Impact In 2027 For Balloon Payment

$12,132 $12,348

$24,894

2025 2026 2027

Th
ou

sa
nd

s

Principal Payments

Page 56 of 107



St. Lucie’s 2021B Transaction Amortizes Balloon Payment

6

2021B Closed in July 2022, Principal Payments 2026 to 2031

$2,890

$7,890

$6,695
$7,035

$7,395
$7,760

$8,145

2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031

Th
ou

sa
nd

s

Principal Payments

Page 57 of 107



ARP Principal Structure by Maturity

7

$50 million new money repayment in 2034 and 2035 maturities

$53,400

$163,450

$69,110

$83,340 $84,535
$92,510

$86,360

$18,360 $18,360
$24,420 $25,640

Th
ou

sa
nd

s

Principal Payments

Repayment $100M 
Series 2021B

Page 58 of 107



Agency Pooled Loan

8

5 years term with 4-year amortization

$232,079
$249,209

$267,604

$141,121

2025 2026 2027 2028

Principal Payments

Page 59 of 107



QUESTIONS

9Page 60 of 107



Total Amount
Issued (millions)

ARP Bonds
Purpose of Bonds Summary

Purpose
Amount Outstanding

as of 9/30/2025

ARP2016A

ARP2017A

ARP2017B

ARP2018A

ARP2019A

ARP 2021A

ARP2021B

$424,120,000

$69,625,000

$52,925,000

$57,790,000

$75,220,000

$36,720,000

$100,495,000

ARP 2025A $208,830,000

Refunded portion of2008A and 2009A bonds

Refund 2011A-1, 201 1 B and interest rate swaps associated with the bonds

Refund 2011A-2 and interest rate swap associated with the bond

Refund all outstanding 2008A Bonds maturing on and after October 1,2020

Refund 2008C and interest rate swaps associated with the bonds

To fund a portion of the ARP Project capital program for the next 3 years

To provide liquidity to FMPA to replace the liquidity provided from existing lines of credit

To finance a portion of the cost of acquisition and construction of the system, refund 2015B
bonds and pay the purchase price on a portion of the 2016A bonds tender offer

$149,940,000

$69,625,000

$20,865,000

$57,790,000

$75,220,000

$36,720,000

$100,495,000

$208,830,000

Total $1,025,725,000 $719,485,000

Page 61 of 107



Series

Total Amount
Issued (millions)

Non-ARP Bonds

Purpose of Bonds Summary

Purpose
Amount Outstanding

as of 9/30/2025

StLucie2013A

StLucie2021A

StLucie2021B

Total

Stantonil2017A

Stantonll2017B

Stanton II 2020-1

Stanton II 2022A

Total

Agency 2023-1

$24,305,000

$14,775,000

$33,920,000

$73,000,000

$21,888,000

$50,019,000

$3,921,350

$25,510,000

$101,338,350

Finance capita! improvements

Refund 2011 B bonds

Refund 2012A bonds

Refund 2000 auction rate securities and interest rate swaps

Refund 2004 auction rate securities and interest rate swaps

Pooled Loan refunded 2009A bonds

Refund 2012A bonds

$1,000,000 Software subscription

$2,970,000

$10,920,000

$33,920,000

$47,810,000

$19,179,000

$15,318,000

$1,393,186

$13,755,000

$49,645,186

$890,013

$1,000,000 $890,013

Page 62 of 107



ARP - CALCULATION BASED ON AVERAGE FY26 BILLING DEMAND

Bushnell

Clewiston

Fort Meade

Fort Pierce

Green Cove Springs

Havana

Jacksonville Beach

KUA
Key West

Lake Worth

Leesburg

Newberry

Ocala

Starke

Total

Average Monthly

Billing Demand
(MW)FY2026

12.607

21.373

9.76B

114.833

24.616

4.922

159.390

387.206

138.477

0.000

115,419

11.002

305.005

14.448

% of Total
1.0%

1.6%

0.7%

8.7%

1.9%

0.4%

12.1%

29.4%

10.5%

0.0%

8,8%

0.8%

23.1%

1.1%

Bonds. Notes and

Loans

Outstanding as of

9/30/20251
6,876

11,658

5,328

62,636

13,427

2,685

86,939

211,202

75,532

0
62,955

S.001

166,365

7,881

1,319.066 100.0% 719,485

iso, a 00,000

leo.ouo.ooo

-140.000,000

120.000,000

100,000. OflO

so. ooo.o no

eu, 000,000

'iu.oon.oon

m. ooo.o oo

0

Principal Payments

Payment

October l
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030
2031
2032
2033
2034
2035

Principal
Payment

53,400,000

163,150,000

69,110,000

83,340,000

84,535,000

92,510,000

86,360,000

18,360,000

18,360,000

24,420,000

25,640,000

719,485,000

Footnote: ARP Participants' percent of share of ARP debt payments are not fixed and will vary according to the process set forth in the

then-current Rate Schedule 8-1. Under the current rate mechanisim approved by the Executive Committee, annual debt service payments

are recovered as part of the ARP demand charge and are allocated to Participants based on the average of their respective monthly peak

demands (less Excluded Resource capacity, if any) during the hour of the ARP system peak for the months of June through September

over the previous three fiscal years. This allocation methodology is designed to stabilize theARP demand charge during the year and

limittheimpactof isolated weather events, varying levels of load growtli, and other factors. Amounts shown are for illustrative purposes

only and are based on each Participants' average monthly ARP billing demand during Fiscal Year 2025. It is important to note that this

calculation is not the same as the calculation of outstanding ARP debt that each Participant would be required to pay in the event it

exercised its right to withdraw from the ARP pursuant to Section 29 of the ARP Contract.

Page 63 of 107



ST. LUCIE - Entitlement share by participant
Bonds, Notes and

Loans Outstanding as

of9/30/20251
Entitlement

Share % ($000)

FY2025 Debt Service

Related Budget2'3'4

_ ($000)

ALACHUA
CLEWISTON
FORTMEADE

FORT PIERCE
GREEN COVE SPRINGS

HOMESTEAD

JAK BEACH

KISS1MMEE
LEESBURG

LAKE WORTH
MOORE HAVEN

NEWBERRY
NEW SMVRNA BEACH
5TARKE

^MUBUBBBBL

0.431%
2.202%

0.336%

15.206%
1.757%

8,269%

7.329%

9.405%

2.326%

24.870%
0.384%

0.184%

9.884%
2.215%

15.202%

100.000%

206
1.053

161

7,270

840

3,953

3,504
4,497

1,112

11.890

184

88
4.726

1,059
7,268

47,810

22
115

18

793
92

431

382
490

121
1,296

20

10
515
115
792

5,213

9,000,000

8,000,000

7,000,000

6,000,000

5,000,000

4,000,000

3,000,000

2,000,000

1,000,000

0
I

Principal Payments
Payment
October 1

2025
2026

2027
2028
2029

2030
2031

Principal Pymt

2,890,000

7.890,000

6,695,000

7.035,000

7,395,000

7,760,000

8,145,000

47,810,000

2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031

Makes no assumption about any new debt needs.

Annual debt-service-related budget amounts may vary by year.

Use of monies on hand may reduce total debt service budget amounts collected from rates. As of

9/30/2025, $46,783,716 (par amt) of investments in the Genera! Reserve, and Contingency related
accounts.

Final debt service payment Is October 1, 2031. Plant licensed by NRC to operate until 2043.

Indicates the partial assignment taken from the City ofVero Beach

Page 64 of 107



STANTON II - Entitlement share

FORT PIERCE

HOMESTEADA

KUAA

ST. CLOUD

KEY WEST
STARKE

Entitlement

Share %

16.489%

16.489%

8.244%

32.977%
14.671%

9.893%
1.237%

100.000%

by participant
Bonds, Notes and

Loans Outstanding as

of 9/30/20251

($000)

8,142
8.142

4,071

16,283

7.244

4,885
611

49,376

FY2025 Debt Service

Related Budget"

($000)

2,084
2.084

1,042

4,169
1.855

1,251
156

12,641

Reflects impact of 100% and 50% Entitlement Share assignments respectively

30,000,000

25,000,000

20,000,000

10,000,000

5,000,000
from Lake Worth and Homestead to KUA.

Makes no assumption about any new debt needs.

Annual debt-service-related budget amounts may vary by year,

Use of monies on hand may reduce total debt service budget amounts collected from

rates. As of 9/30/2025, $32,642,741 (par amt) of investments in the General Reserve, and

Contingency related accounts.

Final debt service payment is October 1, 2027,

Funds on hand in 2027 will be used to reduce payment amount to typical amount level.

See note above.

Indicates amounts paid by ARP due to Participant being in the ARP
indicates the partial assignment taken from the City of Vero Beach

Principal Payments
Payment ^-__
October'1 princ'PSI pymt

2025

2026

2027

12,132,920

12,348,697

24,894,000
49,375,617

I I
2026

Page 65 of 107



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 9 – INFORMATION 
ITEMS 
 
b. Stanton Unit I Retirement Update  

 
Board of Directors Meeting 
February 12, 2026 
 
 

Page 66 of 107



Board of Directors

9b ‒ Stanton Unit 1 Retirement Update

February 12, 2026
Page 67 of 107



Interim Agreements in Place

• The Interim Operating Agreements approved by the Board and 
Executive Committee in December are in place

• Pursuant to those agreements, as of 1/1/2026:
 No more capacity and energy from Stanton Unit No. 1

 No more operating costs associated with that capacity and energy

 Interim Agreements are a bridge to Stanton and Tri-City Project 
amendments to Participation Agreements with OUC

2

No Capacity or Energy to FMPA after 1/1/2026

Page 68 of 107



Goal No. 1 – Lower Costs

• FMPA’s ownership interests in Stanton Unit No. 1 are spread across 
multiple projects (ARP/KUA, Stanton, and Tri-City)

• Each has its own Participation Agreement
• Each Participation Agreement contemplates retirement, but leaves 

most details to be addressed by OUC and FMPA
• OUC has determined to place Unit No. 1 in extended cold shutdown 

(not contemplated by the Participation Agreements), and FMPA wants 
to have its interests treated as retired for that extended cold 
shutdown (also not contemplated by the Participation Agreements)

3

Addressing Issues Needed to Achieve Retirement in Logical Fashion

Page 69 of 107



Goal No. 1 – Lower Costs

• Interim Agreements are meant to provide operational adjustments for 
FMPA’s Unit No. 1 interests in the period from 1/1/2026 until 
Participation Agreement amendments are signed

• Interim Agreements have a term through the end of May, which can 
be extended by the parties

• GOAL – sign amendments to Participation Agreements during term of 
the Interim Agreements

4

Addressing Issues Needed to Achieve Retirement in Logical Fashion

Page 70 of 107



Amendments to Participation Agreements – Terms

• Amendments to Participation Agreements provide:
 OUC may place Unit 1 into Extended Cold Shutdown at its discretion:

• OUC is responsible for all Extended Cold Shutdown related costs

• FMPA waives its rights to receive value, if any, from Extended Cold Shutdown

 Unit 1 is treated as permanently retired, decommissioned, and finally 
disposed, for FMPA’s Ownership Shares, as of 1/1/2026

 After 1/1/2026, (assuming Interim Agreements do not lapse) FMPA has NO:
• O&M cost responsibility

• Cost responsibility for Unit 1 going into, or coming out of, Extended Cold Shutdown

5

Achieve Retirement Treatment with Controlled Cost Exposure

Page 71 of 107



Amendments to Participation Agreements – Terms

• After 1/1/206, (assuming Interim Agreements do not lapse) FMPA has 
NO:
 Cost responsibility if Unit 1 is ordered to run (e.g., DOE order)

 Fuel cost responsibility

 Labor cost responsibility

 Capital cost responsibility

 Insurance cost responsibility

 Regulatory cost responsibility

6

Achieve Retirement Treatment with Controlled Cost Exposure

Page 72 of 107



Amendments to Participation Agreements – Terms

• After 1/1/2026, (assuming Interim Agreements do not lapse) FMPA 
costs are limited to:
 Allocation of station service costs for Unit 2

 Allocation of regulatory costs for Unit 2

 Allocation of common facilities costs for Unit 2

 Fuel for Unit 2 (FMPA to receive compensation for transferred fuel inventory 
to OUC for Unit 1)

7

Achieve Retirement Treatment with Controlled Cost Exposure

Page 73 of 107



Amendments to Participation Agreements – Terms

• Accounting treatment of costs and dispute resolution principles are 
addressed in the amendments.

• Once amendments are signed, there must a closing to:
 Reconvey FMPA’s and KUA’s ownership interests and easements for Unit 1 to 

OUC

 Provide for payments to FMPA (fuel and inventory)

 Address other details

8

Achieve Retirement Treatment with Controlled Cost Exposure

Page 74 of 107



Amendments to Participation Agreements – Terms

• After closing, FMPA’s Unit 1 cost liability is limited to:
 Landfill requirements,

 Environmental compliance costs, and

 Safety and security related costs,

• But, for each of the three categories, only those costs after 1/1/2026 
which FMPA would have otherwise incurred had Unit 1 been 
permanently retired, decommissioned, and disposed of as of that 
1/1/2026 date.

9

Achieve Retirement Treatment with Controlled Cost Exposure

Page 75 of 107



Amendments to Participation Agreements – Terms

• OUC to indemnify FMPA for liabilities and claims after closing, and 
waive  rights to bring claims for costs against FMPA, unless expressly 
set forth in amendments to Participation Agreements

• But, still two remaining open issues for discussion with OUC:
 Amounts that FMPA will keep on hand to address long-term liabilities for Unit 

1 after closing

 Cap on OUC’s indemnity obligations

10

Achieve Retirement Treatment with Controlled Cost Exposure

Page 76 of 107



Process Going Forward

• Finalize negotiation of amendments with OUC

• OUC governing body and FMPA governing body approve amendments 
(goal is March)

• KUA governing body to approve KUA Participation Agreement 
amendment (anticipated in March (or April, depending on progress of 
Participation Agreements))

• Prepare, execute, and deliver closing documents (goal is within 30 
days of amendments being signed)

11

Steps needed to Achieve the Goals

Page 77 of 107



Information Only

• Current draft of the form of amendment to Participation Agreements 
is included with agenda package materials

12

Approvals to be Requested at March Meeting

Page 78 of 107



FMPA DRAFT 2/5/2026 

- 1 - 
 

AMENDMENT NO. 5 
TO THE  

PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT BETWEEN 
ORLANDO UTILITIES COMMISSION, 

AND 
FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY (STANTON PROJECT) 

FOR THE JOINT OWNERSHIP OF 
CURTIS H. STANTON ENERGY CENTER UNIT ONE  

GENERATION PROJECT 
 

 This Amendment No. 5 to the Participation Agreement between Orlando Utilities 
Commission, and Florida Municipal Power Agency for the Joint Ownership of Curtis H. Stanton 
Energy Center Unit One Generation Project, dated January 16, 1984 (this “Amendment”), is dated 
as of January 1, 2026, and is made by and between the ORLANDO UTILITIES COMMISSION, a 
statutory utilities commission organized and existing under the laws of the State of Florida 
(“OUC”) and FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY (STANTON PROJECT), a separate governmental 
legal entity created and existing pursuant to Florida law (“FMPA”).  
 

RECITALS 
 

A. OUC and FMPA previously entered into the Participation Agreement between 
Orlando Utilities Commission, and Florida Municipal Power Agency for the Joint Ownership of 
Curtis H. Stanton Energy Center Unit One Generation Project, dated January 16, 1984, as 
previously amended (the “Participation Agreement”) in order to jointly develop, own and operate 
a nominal 415 MW coal fired power plant at the OUC Curtis H. Stanton Energy Center in Orlando, 
Florida (“Unit 1” or “Project”). 

 
B. FMPA’s 14.8193% joint ownership interests in the Project and its related rights 

and obligations set forth in the Participation Agreement are related to FMPA’s Stanton Project, one 
of FMPA’s six power supply projects. FMPA also has separate joint ownership interests in Unit 1 
through its All-Requirements Power Supply Project (a 6.5060% joint ownership interest) and its Tri-
City Project (a 5.3012% joint ownership interest), which are each subject to separate participation 
agreements that are substantially similar to the Participation Agreement (collectively, the “FMPA 
Project Interests”). Additionally, OUC and Kissimmee Utility Authority (“KUA,” as successor in 
interest to the City of Kissimmee, Florida) are parties to the Participation Agreement between 
Orlando Utilities Commission and the City of Kissimmee for the Joint Ownership of Curtis H. 
Stanton Energy Center Unit One Generation Project dated March 6, 1985, as amended, for KUA’s 
4.819% joint ownership interests in the Project (together with the FMPA Project Interests, the 
“Joint Owner Interests”).  

 
C. Pursuant to OUC’s letter to FMPA, dated September 29, 2021, OUC officially gave 

notice to FMPA of its intent to retire Unit 1, while deferring on the determination of a specific 
retirement date.  In response, on or about September 1, 2023, FMPA provided notice that it 
wished to terminate its participation as a co-owner in Unit 1 in the event that OUC did not 

Page 79 of 107



FMPA DRAFT 2/5/2026 

- 2 - 
 

proceed with such retirement by the end of 2025.   Subsequently, OUC has communicated to 
FMPA its intent not to retire, decommission, and dismantle Unit 1 in the manner contemplated in 
the Participation Agreement, but instead, to place it in Extended Cold Shutdown (as defined 
herein).  

 
D. The Participation Agreement does not address either the voluntary termination by 

FMPA of its ownership interest nor the approach by OUC of placing Unit 1 in Extended Cold 
Shutdown,  and both are addressed in this Amendment No. 5. As such, OUC and FMPA desire to 
agree on the terms needed to address operational considerations for Unit 1 during Extended Cold 
Shutdown as well as defining the obligations of both OUC and FMPA after any such transition of 
Unit 1 to Extended Cold Shutdown. 

 
E. OUC and FMPA have herein agreed on terms and conditions which will address 

the Extended Cold Shutdown scenario and wish to amend the Participation Agreement as set forth 
in this Amendment No. 5, to memorialize such agreed terms of Extended Cold Shutdown of Unit 1 
and effect a termination of FMPA’s joint ownership interest in the Project. 

 
F. Prior to entering into this Amendment, the Parties have agreed to an Interim 

Operating Agreement Under Participation Agreement between Orlando Utilities Commission, and 
Florida Municipal Power Agency (Stanton Project) for the Joint Ownership of Curtis H. Stanton 
Energy Center Unit One Generation Project, entered into as of December 11, 2025 (the “Interim 
Agreement”), which provided for certain agreements of the Parties regarding operation of the 
Project from January 1, 2026 until the effectiveness of this Amendment or until the Interim 
Agreement expires (whichever first occurs), and which is desired by the Parties to provide for the 
continuous and consistent contractual relationship of the Parties during that period, without 
contractual gaps. It is the intent of the Parties that this Amendment supersede and replace the 
Interim Agreement from the date of the Retirement Closing (as defined in Paragraph 23.04, as set 
forth in this Amendment), and afterwards. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises, covenants and agreements 

set forth herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt, sufficiency and adequacy 
of which are hereby acknowledges, OUC and FMPA intend to be legally bound hereby, and agree 
as follows: 
 
1. Recitals; Defined Terms 
 
The recitals set forth above are true and correct as of the date of this Amendment and are 
incorporated into this Amendment as a material part hereof by this reference. Capitalized terms 
used in this Amendment, unless another definition is expressly provided herein, has the meaning 
ascribed to them in the Participation Agreement. 
 
2. Amendment to Section 1 (Definitions) 
 

Page 80 of 107



FMPA DRAFT 2/5/2026 

- 3 - 
 

Section 1 (Definitions) of the Participation Agreement is hereby amended by adding the following 
paragraphs: 
 

  1.44 Sections 23 and 24 Defined Terms. In addition to the preceding 
terms in this Section, the following terms, when used in Sections 23 and 24 hereof, and 
the Exhibits referenced therein shall have the following meanings, unless the context 
otherwise indicates: 

[NOTE: cleaned-up definitions provision, but changes not redlined (just clerical).] 
(a) ARP shall have the meaning set forth in Paragraph 23.03(a). 
 
(b) Baseline Landfill Conditions shall have the meaning set forth in Paragraph 
24.10(a). 
 
(c) City shall have the meaning set forth in Paragraph 24.03(a). 
 
(d) Extended Cold Shutdown means the status of the Project whereby OUC at 
its own expense renders the plant inoperable, characterized by a nitrogen cap on 
the boiler to preserve the boiler tubes (or other similar preservative measures 
which must be reversed or eliminated for the Project to be placed into commercial 
operation). References in Section 23 to “active operations” of the Project refer to 
all times where the Project is not in Extended Cold Shutdown, unless permanently 
retired, decommissioned, and disposed of by OUC.   

 
(e) FMPA Project Interests means FMPA’s 14.8193% joint ownership interests 
in the Project and its related rights and obligations as set forth and provided for in 
this Agreement related to FMPA’s Stanton Project (one of FMPA’s six power supply 
projects), together with FMPA’s separate joint ownership interests in the Project 
through its All-Requirements Power Supply Project (a 6.5060% joint ownership 
interest) and FMPA’s Tri-City Project (a 5.3012% joint ownership interest), which 
are each subject to separate participation agreements that are substantially 
similar to this Agreement. 
 
(f) FMPA Termination Date means January 1, 2026.  

 
(g) Interim Operating Agreement means that certain Interim Operating 
Agreement between OUC and FMPA dated December 11, 2025. 
 
(h) LTL Funds shall have the meaning set forth in Paragraph 24.08. 
 
(i)  O&M shall have the meaning set forth in Paragraph 23.03. 
 
(j) Ongoing Landfill Conditions shall have the meaning set forth in Paragraph 
24.10(b). 

Page 81 of 107



FMPA DRAFT 2/5/2026 

- 4 - 
 

(k) Regulatory Costs shall have the meaning set forth in Paragraph 23.08. 

(l) Retained Retirement Obligations shall have the meaning set forth in 
Paragraph 24.09(c). 
 
(m) Retirement Disputes shall have the meaning set forth in Paragraph 23.14. 
 
(n) Return Fuel shall have the meaning set forth in Paragraph 23.11(a)(1)(B). 
 
(o) SECU2 shall have the meaning set forth in Paragraph 23.07. 
 
(p) SECU2 Owners shall have the meaning set forth in Paragraph 23.03(a). 
 
(q) Shutdown Committee shall have the meaning set forth in Paragraph 
23.13. 

 
(r) Termination Closing means the closing of the sale and reconveyance to 
OUC of FMPA’s Ownership Share of the Project which will take place as soon as 
practicable, as mutually agreed between OUC and FMPA.  

 
(s) Station Service means the electric energy consumed by the Project and 
that is used within the Project to power the lights, motors, control systems, 
auxiliary, and other electrical loads that are necessary for operation of the Project, 
including all periods of Extended Cold Shutdown and active operations. 
 
(t) Verified Funds shall have the meaning set forth in Paragraph 24.08. 

 
3. Addition of New Section 23 (Extended Cold Shutdown) 
 
The following new Section 23 (Extended Cold Shutdown) is hereby inserted into the Participation 
Agreement following the existing Section 22: 
 

SECTION 23. EXTENDED COLD SHUTDOWN 
 
  23.01 OUC Discretion. OUC may in its sole discretion, elect to place the 
Project into Extended Cold Shutdown.  Any such election shall be made in writing to 
FMPA. Upon any such election, the following shall apply relative to the rights of each 
Party to the Agreement: 
 

(a) OUC will be responsible for all costs to prepare for, place the 
Project in such Extended Cold Shutdown state, remove or take the Project out of 
Extended Cold Shutdown, and prepare for active operations of the Project after 
being put into or taken out of Extended Cold Shutdown, regardless of how many 
times the Project is put into, or taken out of, Extended Cold Shutdown (including 

Page 82 of 107



FMPA DRAFT 2/5/2026 

- 5 - 
 

taking the Project out of Extended Cold Shutdown for the retirement, 
decommissioning, and final disposition of the Project) by OUC. 

 
(b) FMPA will waive any rights to receive a proportionate share of any 

future benefit OUC may derive from Extended Cold Shutdown, if any, including 
value of future generation output from the Project, nor will FMPA be required to 
take or pay for Project Output after FMPA Termination Date. 

 
(c) Regardless of the actual date the Project begins initial Extended 

Cold Shutdown, FMPA and OUC, for purposes of FMPA’s obligations under this 
Agreement, except as set forth in Section 24 and this Section 23, will treat the 
Project as permanently retired, decommissioned, and finally disposed of, as of 
FMPA Termination Date. 

 
(d)  FMPA will have no responsibility under this Agreement for any 

recurring costs and expenses, including Project Costs, that may be incurred by OUC 
during Extended Cold Shutdown, except for the Retained Retirement Obligations. 

 
(e) FMPA will have no responsibility under this Agreement for costs to 

prepare for, begin, perpetuate (i.e., continue), end, or discontinue the status of the 
Project in Extended Cold Shutdown, except for the Retained Retirement 
Obligations. 

 
(f)  The parties recognize that OUC may in its discretion choose to 

partially or fully modify the operational configuration or operating parameters of 
the Project at any time as of and after FMPA Termination Date. To the extent OUC 
exercises such option, the Parties agree that the cost allocation methodologies set 
forth in this Section 23 may require modification and, therefore, either OUC or 
FMPA may give notice to the other party of its desire to negotiate a re-evaluation 
of the cost sharing approach under this Section 23. Upon such notice as set forth 
in the previous sentence, the other Party shall use good faith, reasonable efforts to 
engage in such negotiations. If a new operational configuration or parameters of 
the Project by OUC are shown by either OUC or FMPA to impact the calculations 
and assumptions underlying the cost allocation under this Section 23, then the 
Parties shall use good faith, reasonable efforts to negotiate and reach agreement 
on a re-allocation of costs, with the intent of the Parties that each be placed in the 
same risk and cost allocation position, or as nearly as is reasonably achievable, 
that the Parties had prior to the Project’s re-configuration by OUC. 

 
(g) All changes in law, policy, regulations, or interpretations after the 

Termination Closing Date, including judicial rulings and executive action by the 
federal or state government, and any of the agencies or instrumentalities of the 
same, that have an impact of any kind on the Project generally, and specifically as 
to OUC’s preparation for and placement of the Project into Extended Cold 

Page 83 of 107



FMPA DRAFT 2/5/2026 

- 6 - 
 

Shutdown, are the sole liability and responsibility of OUC unless applicable to 
FMPA’s Retained Retirement Obligations, and shall have no impact whatsoever on 
the obligations and rights of the Parties pursuant to Sections 23 and 24 hereof. 

 
  23.02 Ongoing Fuel, Landfill, and Operation and Maintenance Costs. As 
of and after FMPA Termination Date, FMPA will not incur any ongoing Project related 
costs for operation and maintenance or fuel expenses, including  Fuel Costs and 
Variable Operating Costs, which would not be an obligation of FMPA if the Project were 
permanently retired, decommissioned, and finally disposed of as of FMPA Termination 
Date, including those costs specifically related to maintaining equipment, maintaining 
and operating the landfill or providing or obtaining services to retain the option to 
return the Project to operational service. 
 
  23.03 Operating and Maintenance Costs for SEC Unit One-related 
Common Facilities. To the extent that FMPA is liable or otherwise responsible for 
ongoing operation and maintenance (“O&M”) costs for Common Facilities, the Parties 
agree to allocate those costs as follows: 
 

(a) During periods of Extended Cold Shutdown for the Project, all 
O&M costs for the Common Facilities will be the responsibility of “SECU2 Owners” 
(currently OUC, FMPA’s Stanton II Project, and All-Requirements Power Supply 
Project (the “ARP”)). 

 
(b) During periods when the Project is in active operations, all O&M 

costs for Common Facilities will be split equally with 50% of such costs allocated to 
the Joint Owner Interests and 50% allocated among SECU2 Owners. 

 
For the avoidance of doubt, the Common Facilities referred to in this 

Paragraph 23.03 shall be deemed to only include such Common Facilities as attributed 
or allocated to the Project immediately prior to FMPA Termination Date, and for which, 
as of and after such FMPA Termination Date, FMPA would have continued to incur a 
portion of such O&M costs if and to the extent that the Project were permanently 
retired, decommissioned, and finally disposed of as of FMPA Termination Date. 
 
  23.04 Labor, Contracting, and Consulting. As of and after FMPA 
Termination Date, FMPA will not incur any labor, contractor, or consulting services 
expenses specifically related to sustaining or otherwise providing for the Project’s 
operability and which would not be an obligation of FMPA if the Project were 
permanently retired, decommissioned, and finally disposed of as of FMPA Termination 
Date. 
 
  23.05 Ongoing Capital. As of and after FMPA Termination Date, any 
required capital or cash investment in equipment, new parts, spare parts, and parts 
inventory required solely to sustain the Project’s operability will be the sole obligation 

Page 84 of 107



FMPA DRAFT 2/5/2026 

- 7 - 
 

and responsibility of OUC. As used in this Paragraph 23.05, “solely” includes the 
situation where equipment, or parts/spares inventory is acquired by OUC primarily for 
the continued operation of the Project but could incidentally be used to support Project 
operability or operations, and operations of other facilities at Stanton Energy Center 
where FMPA is not a co-owner. In the previous sentence, “incidentally” refers to no 
more than 10% of use or value to support Project operability or operations, or 
operations of other facilities at Stanton Energy Center where FMPA is not a co-owner. 
 
  23.06 Insurance. As of and after FMPA Termination Date, FMPA shall not 
be responsible under this Agreement for both (i) insurance costs that would be unique 
from, or incremental to, costs for insurance that would have been incurred related to 
the permanent retirement, decommissioning, and disposition of the Project as of the 
FMPA Termination Date, and (ii) all insurance costs related to continued capability to 
operate the Project as of and after FMPA Termination Date. 
 
  23.07 Station Service. FMPA shall not be responsible under this 
Agreement for any Station Service costs, as a part of the Variable Operating Costs or 
Fixed Operating Costs, for Station Service that is required solely for maintaining the 
Project in Extended Cold Shutdown or active operation as of and after FMPA 
Termination Date, including Station Service used to operate pumps, motors, any 
equipment to preserve equipment associated for the Project’s use or operation by OUC. 
To effect this Paragraph 23.07, a MWh/day determination of ongoing Station Service 
for the Project has been derived and agreed upon by the Parties. This Station Service 
determination, provided herein, is set forth for the sole purpose of providing for the 
daily consumption of MWH that the Project would be required to supply for all 
infrastructure on the Project, but which is required to support Stanton Energy Center 
Unit 2 (“SECU2”) operations. This includes water treatment, coal delivery, coal 
reclamation, and other associated equipment needed for operation of SECU2 systems. 
Any Station Service for the Project that is over and above the amount set forth in this 
Paragraph 23.07 is hereby deemed to be the sole responsibility of OUC as of and after 
FMPA Termination Date . 
 

Station Service for the Project, which is required to support SECU2 
operations is 205 MWH/day. 
 
  23.08  Permits, Licenses, and Legal Costs. As of and after FMPA 
Termination Date, FMPA shall not be responsible under this Agreement for any cost, nor 
bear any responsibility, related to permits, licenses or legal costs (collectively, 
“Regulatory Costs”) which would not be an obligation of FMPA if the Project were 
permanently retired, decommissioned, and finally disposed of as of FMPA Termination 
Date. Likewise, FMPA shall not be responsible under this Agreement for any Regulatory 
Costs, that are solely associated with the continued operability of the Project or the 
Project’s Extended Cold Shutdown, or both, as of and after FMPA Termination Date. 
 

Page 85 of 107



FMPA DRAFT 2/5/2026 

- 8 - 
 

  If, as of or after FMPA Termination Date, the situation arises where 
Regulatory Costs are required for both the Project in Extended Cold Shutdown, or active 
operations, and operations of SECU2 facilities at Stanton Energy Center, there will be an 
allocation of 50% of such Regulatory Costs to OUC and 50% to SECU2 Owners. 
 
  23.09 Damage and Replacement of Project-Related Common Facilities. 
As of and after FMPA Termination Date, FMPA shall not be responsible under this 
Agreement for any O&M, replacement or other costs or expenses associated with, 
arising out of, or related to damage or ordinary wear and tear to Project-related 
Common Facilities or SECU2-related Common Facilities which would not have been 
incurred but for the Project being placed in Extended Cold Shutdown by OUC or active 
operations of the Project by OUC as of and after such FMPA Termination Date. 
 
  23.10 Common Facilities Capital Improvement Costs. As of and after the 
FMPA Termination Date, the Project and SECU2 share certain assets that have been 
designated contractually as Common Facilities. FMPA and OUC have agreed that all 
Common Facilities, or the portion thereof, currently attributed or otherwise allocated to 
the Project, and that are required and useful to support future SECU2 operations, will 
be transferred at no additional cost from the Joint Owner Interests to OUC as of the 
FMPA Termination Date, as a part of the Termination Closing. FMPA’s only subsequent 
obligation to provide for a share of the cost or expense of such transferred Common 
Facilities, if any, is to pay only those costs which FMPA would have otherwise been 
obligated to pay if the Project had been permanently retired, decommissioned, and 
finally disposed of as of FMPA Termination Date, or as otherwise provided in Paragraph 
23.03. 
 

The parties recognize that there may be a need for future investment in 
Common Facilities shared by the Project and SECU2 after FMPA Termination Date. To 
the extent that FMPA is liable or otherwise responsible for costs for future capital 
investment in Common Facilities as of and after FMPA Termination Date, as set forth 
otherwise in this Paragraph 23.10, the Parties hereby agree to economically allocate 
such costs as follows: 

 
(a)  Any project capital costs for a Common Facility that is less than two 

hundred fifty thousand dollars ($250,000) at the time of project completion or 
commissioning (as applicable) will be the responsibility of SECU2 Owners. 

 
(b)  Any project capital costs for a Common Facility that is two hundred fifty 

thousand dollars ($250,000) or greater at the time of project completion or 
commissioning (as applicable) will be assigned a mutually agreed useful life (based on 
industry best practices) and the total costs will have a linear annual cost allocation 
based on that useful life. For example: a $500,000 project with a 5-year useful life, for 
purposes of cost responsibility only, will have costs allocated at $100k per year. 
 

Page 86 of 107



FMPA DRAFT 2/5/2026 

- 9 - 
 

Once the annual cost allocation has been derived, costs will be assigned 
annually to OUC for the Project and SECU2 Owners in arrears based on proration of the 
relative annual operating capacity factors of each unit. For example: If there was 
shown to be an annual capacity factor of 30% for the Project and an annual capacity 
factor 50% for SECU2, the cost responsibility split for the applicable Common Facility 
project cost would equal 37% for the Project (37% of total MWhs generated) and 63% 
for SECU2 (63% of total MWhs generated). 
 
  23.11 Allocation of Fuel and Parts Inventory. Prior to the FMPA 
Termination Date, the Project and SECU2 shared a common parts and Fuel (coal) 
inventory, the cost of which is allocated to the Project and SECU2 owners based on the 
ownership/utilization by each unit. However, the Parties have herein agreed to the 
following allocation of such resources as of an after FMPA Termination Date:  
 

(a) Coal Inventory. The parties agree that the existing shared coal 
inventory shall be allocated as of FMPA Termination Date based on the following 
methodology: 

 
(1) On or before October 1, 2025, OUC will work with FMPA 

to develop a forecasted coal burn for the Project for the months of 
October 2025 through May 2026. The forecast will be based on best 
estimate of economic dispatch within Pool dispatch parameters, 
regardless of FMPA scheduling volumes. 

 
(2) Beginning in October 2025, OUC will take the following 

steps to allocate responsibility for coal costs as follows: 
 

(A) Prior to calendar year-end 2025, OUC will 
rebalance existing coal volumes and allocate to the Project the 
above-mentioned forecasted volume, rather than the usual 50-50 
split between the Project and SECU2 prior to FMPA Termination 
Date. 

 
(B) OUC will assign a mutually agreed tonnage of 

coal inventory specifically to OUC for future use by the Project 
when OUC transitions it to active operations from Extended Cold 
Shutdown (“Return Fuel”). Each time such Return Fuel is utilized 
by OUC, it will be replenished by OUC as soon as practical. 

 
(C) Any coal deliveries and CSX charges that take 

place from October 2025 forward will all be billed and allocated to 
SECU2 unless and to the extent delivery is specifically designated 
by OUC for the Project, including replenishment by OUC of Return 
Fuel, in which case the cost will be allocated accordingly. As 

Page 87 of 107



FMPA DRAFT 2/5/2026 

- 10 - 
 

FMPA’s agent for SECU2, OUC shall ensure that accurate records 
are made and kept and orders for coal are properly designated 
pursuant hereto for the Project and SECU2. 

 
To the extent that OUC is obligated by this Paragraph 23.11 to act 
prior to January 1, 2026, OUC hereby covenants and warrants to 
FMPA that to its knowledge, all such items have been completed, 
but to the extent that they have not, OUC will use or will have 
used good faith efforts to meet all such obligations. 

 
(3) On the Termination Closing date, SECU2 Owners will take 

ownership of all remaining coal inventory of the Project, minus the Return 
Fuel. The inventory of coal that is transferred and sold pursuant to the 
previous sentence will be priced at the 10/1/2025 weighted average cost. 
The Joint Owner Interests will be compensated for their pro-rata share of 
this inventory via participant billing credit or other mutually agreeable 
approach between the Parties. 

 
(4) If the Project needs additional coal for the specific period 

of time prior to Extended Cold Shutdown, for operation after as of and 
after FMPA Termination Date, OUC will buy such needed amount from 
SECU2 Owners, as mutually agreed, and priced at the weighted average 
cost at that time of purchase. 

 
(5) OUC hereby agrees and covenants to the SECU2 Owners 

that if the Project is returned to active operations, and each time this 
occurs, after FMPA Termination Date, the following steps will be followed 
by OUC to ensure sufficient coal inventory for active operations of the 
Project and unrestricted operations of SECU2: 

 
(A)  If the Project consumes more coal than the 

inventory that has been purchase by OUC as provided for in 
Paragraph 23.11(a)(4), OUC shall be entitled to utilize SECU2 
inventory; provided, however, that OUC will compensate SECU2 
Owners at weighted average cost of coal at time of 
purchase/transfer; and 

 
(B) OUC shall not to use SECU2 Owners’ coal 

inventory in such a manner as to require coal conservation 
operation of SECU2. OUC will promptly replenish all SECU2 coal 
inventory so utilized to levels present prior to use by the Project, 
regardless of market pricing or other costs, within 120 days of the 
date first utilized for the Project. 

 

Page 88 of 107



FMPA DRAFT 2/5/2026 

- 11 - 
 

(6)  OUC hereby acknowledges and agrees that if the 
Ownership Share of FMPA’s ARP and Stanton II Project for SECU2 is 
dispatched, but not all of the related Output is delivered and take by FMPA 
due to its scheduling of output pursuant to section 12 of the applicable 
participation agreement, OUC must compensate FMPA’s ARP and Stanton 
II Project for the coal utilized based on weighted average price of coal. 

 
(b) Parts Inventory. If there is any remaining FMPA ownership interest 

in parts and other inventory allocated to the Project as of FMPA Termination Date, 
these assets will be transferred by FMPA to OUC at no cost at Termination Closing. 
OUC will pay all ongoing holding charges for such inventory as of and after 
Termination Closing. If, as of an after Termination Closing, a part is removed from 
the Project’s inventory for use in SECU2, SECU2 Owners will be charged for the 
relevant part at cost. 

 
  23.12 Limited Audit Rights for SEC Unit One. FMPA retains all audit 
rights otherwise provided for in this Agreement for the Project after FMPA Termination 
Date, including while unit is in Extended Cold Shutdown, active operations, or 
transitioning from one state to the other, to the extent necessary to verify all costs 
billed to FMPA after the FMPA Termination Date. 
 
  23.13 Shutdown Committee. Pursuant to Paragraph 10.10 hereof, the 
Project Committee is tasked with reviewing and identifying the details of the ultimate 
disposition of the Project, which the Parties hereby agree has, in part, been 
accomplished in this Section 23 and Section 24. Additionally, the Parties hereby agree 
to provide for the work of the Project Committee, howsoever named as further 
provided in this Paragraph 23.13, as follows: (i) prior to FMPA Termination Date, FMPA 
and OUC will elect two members each to participate in a standing “Shutdown 
Committee,” which for purposes of actions and decisions made pursuant to this Section 
23 and Section 24, shall be and constitute the Project Committee provided for in Section 
10. Any conflict between Section 10 and this Paragraph 23.13 shall be resolved in favor 
of the terms of this Paragraph 23.13 and Section 23 and 24, while giving effect to the 
last sentence of this Paragraph 23.13. (ii) The Shutdown Committee will hold and 
participate in regular meetings, not less than every calendar quarter, after  the 
Termination Closing, to jointly develop the process for assigning and transferring 
retained ownership of the Common Equipment and Facilities between the Project and 
SECU2; determining all retirement costs for the Project, and determining the allocation 
of cost responsibilities to all Joint Owner Interests (to the extent not set out herein); and 
all other matters assigned to the Shutdown Committee by Sections 23 and 23 hereof for 
the retirement of the Project. Nothing in this Paragraph 23.13 abrogates or diminishes 
rights that FMPA has as to the Project Committee as otherwise set forth in this 
Agreement. 
 

Page 89 of 107



FMPA DRAFT 2/5/2026 

- 12 - 
 

  23.14 Dispute Resolution. The Parties hereby acknowledge there may be 
any number of costs and expenses related to the Project as of and after FMPA 
Termination Datethat “could” or “may” relate to the continued operation of the Project 
in the future, or its status of being in Extended Cold Shutdown or active operations, 
while, arguably, also appropriately incurred by OUC for the Project as if OUC had 
permanently retired, decommissioned, and ultimately disposed of the Project as of 
FMPA Termination Date (collectively, or individually, “Retirement Disputes”). For 
purposes of example only: fencing repair, replacement, and other passive security costs 
as of and after FMPA Termination Date. OUC and FMPA desire to hereby agree to an 
approach to address any disagreement they may face in the future over how to allocate 
such costs. 
 

Utilizing the dispute resolution process provided for in Section 17, 
including the role of the Shutdown Committee, the following principle will be adhered 
to by the Parties, and the Parties hereby desire to bind any third-party decision maker 
on Retirement Disputes to also so adhere: 

 
(a) for Retirement Disputes over any costs, the incremental costs over 

and above those which FMPA would be required to pay had OUC permanently 
retired, decommissioned, and disposed of the Project as of FMPA Termination 
Date; and 

 
(b) where such incremental costs are attributable to the continued 

availability of the Project to OUC as of and after FMPA Termination Date, or the 
Project’s status in Extended Cold Shutdown, active operations, or transitioning 
from or to Extended Cold Shutdown; 

 
then such incremental costs will be presumptively costs for which FMPA is no longer 
responsible or liable, unless OUC can overcome such presumption with evidence of a 
definitive need to have incurred such costs related to its permanent retirement, 
decommissioning, and disposition of the Project as of FMPA Termination Date; 
provided, however, that costs that result in a de minimis benefit (for purposes of this 
Paragraph 23.14, 5% or less of such total costs) to the ongoing operation of the Project 
after FMPA Termination Date will not meet such presumption. 
 

23.15 Accounting Treatment. The Parties recognize that the accounting 
for cost allocation among the Joint Owner Interests and OUC as of and after FMPA 
Termination Date will need to properly account for all costs that are or are to be allocated 
under Sections 23 and 24 hereof. Such accounting approach and OUC bookkeeping will be 
based on industry practices that will both properly allocate costs for periods when the 
Project is in Extended Cold Shutdown and when in active operations as of and after FMPA 
Termination Date. 
 
4. Addition of New Section 24 (Termination Closing) 

Page 90 of 107



FMPA DRAFT 2/5/2026 

- 13 - 
 

 
The following new Section 24 (Termination Closing) is hereby inserted into the Participation 
Agreement following the new Section 23 (Extended Cold Shutdown): 
 

SECTION 24 TERMINATION CLOSING 
 
  24.01 FMPA Termination. As the FMPA Termination Date, FMPA’s 
undivided Ownership Share of the Project is reduced to 0% so that FMPA shall no longer be 
responsible nor liable for paying Project Costs incurred on or after such date, except as set 
forth in Section 23, and FMPA shall no longer take and receive the Project Output. As of 
and after the FMPA Termination Date, OUC shall no longer have an obligation to provide 
any of the Output of the Project to FMPA, and FMPA shall no longer have the responsibility 
or liability for its Ownership Share of the Output of the Project; provided, however, that 
FMPA shall remain liable to OUC for those costs and expenses of the Project as expressly 
set forth in Section 23 and Section 24, hereof, and, provided, further, that OUC’s 
designation and authorization to act as FMPA’s agent pursuant to Paragraph 4.07 is 
limited to only those actions of OUC required of it to comply with Section 23 and Section 
24, and it otherwise terminated and no longer of any legal effect or consequence as of the 
FMPA Termination Date. It is the intent of the Parties that the Termination Closing shall 
occur and be effective as of the FMPA Termination Date. 
 

23.02 Interim Arrangements. The Parties hereby agree that the 
Termination Closing will occur after the FMPA Termination Date, but it will, nevertheless, 
be effective as of January 1, 2026, the operational and other details of which may be 
memorialized in a separate agreement between the Parties.   

 
24.03 Reconveyance of Property and Easement Interests. The parties 

shall proceed to Termination Closing before the termination of the Interim Operating 
Agreement if possible.  The following shall take place on the Termination Closing date:  

 
(a) At and as of the Termination Closing, FMPA will sell and reconvey 

to OUC, and OUC will purchase and reacquire from FMPA, the 14.8193% undivided 
Ownership Share in the Project originally conveyed to FMPA in 1984. As used in this 
Paragraph 24.03, “OUC” refers both to OUC and to the City of Orlando, Florida (the 
“City”), and to the extent that the original conveyance to FMPA of its Project interests 
came from OUC or the City, or both, the reconveyance by FMPA will be to the interests of 
OUC or the City, or both, as directed by OUC. This sale and reconveyance from FMPA to 
OUC includes all improvements acquired, constructed, installed or stored in connection 
with the Project, and all property acquired, constructed, installed or stored in connection 
with the construction and operation of the Project. 

 
(b) The sale and reconveyance of FMPA’s interests in the SEC Unit One 

Site and other real property related to the Project and the conveyances of tangible 
personal property at the Termination Closing will be by General Warranty Deed and Bill of 

Page 91 of 107



FMPA DRAFT 2/5/2026 

- 14 - 
 

Sale in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit AA. The assignment of contract 
rights and permits will be in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit BB. [NOTE: 
NEED TO DETERMINE IF THERE ARE ANY CONTRACT INTERESTS TO ASSIGN.] FMPA shall 
also furnish to OUC evidence satisfactory to OUC that FMPA has done nothing to permit or 
tolerate any lien, charge, or other encumbrance to all real property to be sold and 
reconveyed to OUC, except as permitted, tolerated, or otherwise known to OUC. The 
evidence of title to real property shall be furnished in accordance with the further 
provisions of this Agreement. OUC shall rely on the warranties of title in the General 
Warranty Deed and Bill of Sale as evidence of title to all personal property. 

 
(c) Simultaneously with the Termination Closing, FMPA shall reconvey 

or convey and transfer to OUC all easements over the Stanton Energy Center Site for 
ingress and egress to the Project and ingress and egress to the Common Facilities and the 
External Facilities for the purposes of the Project only. [NOTE: ADD FORMS FOR TRANSFER 
OF EASEMENTS – Exhibit DD?] 

 
 24.04 Inventory Determination and Purchase Price for Reconveyance. At 

the Termination Closing, and notwithstanding Paragraph 20.03, OUC shall pay to FMPA for 
the property purchased and re-acquired by OUC pursuant to Paragraph 24.02, the sum of 
$1,000 plus $100 for the price of all separate easements also reconveyed or conveyed and 
transferred to OUC pursuant thereto.   
 

  24.05 “AS IS” and “WHERE IS” Condition for Termination Closing. FMPA's 
undivided ownership interest in the Project is to be transferred or reconveyed at the 
Termination Closing by FMPA to OUC “AS IS” and “WHERE IS.” FMPA makes no 
representation or warranty whatsoever, expressed, implied or statutory, as to the value, 
quantity, quality, condition, saleability, obsolescence, merchantability, design, engineering, 
construction, fitness or suitability for use or working order of all or any part of the Project, 
wherever situated and in whatever state of development, design, engineering, 
manufacture or construction, except those representations and warranties included 
expressly in this Section 24, if any, and in the Warranty Deed and Bill of Sale set forth in 
Exhibit AA hereto, nor does FMPA represent or warrant that the use or operation of the 
Project will not violate patent, trademark or servicemark rights of any third parties. OUC is 
willing to purchase and reacquire FMPA’s interest in the Project in accordance with the 
terms and conditions of this paragraph. 

 
  24.06 Deliveries at Termination Closing. Subject to the terms and 

conditions of this Section 24 and Section 24, the consummation of the sale and 
reconveyance by FMPA, and the purchase and reacquisition by OUC, of the interests of 
FMPA in the Project provided for in this Section 24 shall take place remotely by exchange 
of documents and signatures via overnight courier or electronic transmission. At or prior to 
the Termination Closing, FMPA shall deliver, or cause to be delivered, the following items 
to OUC: 

 

Page 92 of 107



FMPA DRAFT 2/5/2026 

- 15 - 
 

(a) with respect to all real property interests to be conveyed pursuant 
hereto, a General Warranty Deed, in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit AA, 
duly executed and notarized by FMPA., for recording in the official records of Orange 
County, Florida; 

 
(b) the Bill of Sale, in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit 

AA, duly executed by FMPA; 
 
(b)  assignments of permits and contract rights in substantially the 

form attached hereto as Exhibit BB; [CONFIRM NEED FOR THIS.] 
 
(c)  [LIST OTHER FMPA CLOSING DELIVERABLES]. 

 
  At or prior to the Termination Closing, OUC shall deliver, or cause to be 
delivered, the following items to FMPA: 
 
  (aa) the sum provided in Paragraph 24.03; 
 
  (bb) the coal payment pursuant to Paragraph 23.11(a)(3); 
 

(cc) the Bill of Sale, in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit 
AA, duly executed by OUC; 

 
(dd) [LIST OTHER OUC CLOSING DELIVERABLES]. 

 
  For those items listed in this Paragraph 24.05 that are delivered by a Party 
prior to the Termination Closing, legal counsel for the other Party shall hold such 
deliverable in escrow, until all deliverables set forth herein are received and 
acknowledged by legal counsel for both Parties, and the Parties direct their mutual 
agreement to consummate the Termination Closing. 
 
  24.07 Future Conveyances. From time to time after the Termination 
Closing, OUC and FMPA shall each duly approve, execute, and deliver such other 
instruments of conveyance and transfer as may be necessary or appropriate, or as 
either Party may reasonably request, to fully vest in OUC the reconveyance of FMPA’s 
prior undivided Ownership Interest in and to the Project and the other interests 
required to be sold and conveyed to OUC pursuant to this Section. 
 
  24.08 Long-Term Liability Funds. FMPA’s Stanton Project that holds the 
Ownership Share interest in the Project has, over time, collected funds through its rates 
charged to FMPA Participating Members that are now held in a combination of (a) 
dedicated Project reserves, (b) general reserves, (c) renewal and replacement funds, 
and (d) other similar accounts, which are in excess of the amounts required by FMPA to 
pay OUC for all Project Costs properly due to OUC from FMPA for the Project prior to 

Page 93 of 107



FMPA DRAFT 2/5/2026 

- 16 - 
 

January 1, 2026 (collectively, the “LTL Funds”). The LTL Funds as of the date of this 
Amendment No. 5 total approximately [$34] million of Project dedicated funds and 
[$170] million in the remainder of the funds (and such LTL Funds, in total, are 
distributed among FMPA’s All-Requirements Power Supply Project, Stanton Project, and 
Tri-City Project).  Given the current estimates and timing for ultimate decommissioning 
efforts and the FMPA Retained Retirement Obligations (as defined below) for the 
Project, FMPA will be solely responsible to determine that FMPA’s projects are holding 
reasonably sufficient funds to meet all of FMPA’s Retained Retirement Obligations as 
set forth in this Section 24, based upon municipal electric utility or other independent 
electric industry-standard practices and information available.  FMPA’s Stanton Project 
LTL Funds available are solely dedicated to paying costs of the Project, and regardless 
of the actual balance of such LTL Funds on hand at any time, and from time to time, 
FMPA is obligated to meet its obligations under this Agreement, including without 
limitation FMPA’s obligations with regard to Retained Retirement Obligations, from 
those LTL Funds and revenues received from invoices to FMPA Participating Members, 
who have an obligation to pay all Stanton Project invoices from FMPA, including certain 
step-up obligations and a rate covenant in support thereof, for all costs related to the 
Project. FMPA’s Board of Directors will periodically assess sufficiency of available LTL 
Funds for anticipated future expenses and keep OUC informed of LTL Funds status, 
including as set forth in the last sentence of this Paragraph 24.08.  
 
  At any time after Termination Closing, OUC may request a review of the 
LTL Funds held by FMPA to meet the FMPA Retained Retirement Obligations in 
subsections (a) – (d) above. The Parties hereby agree and acknowledge that such LTL 
Funds are for payment of FMPA’s Retained Retirement Obligations only and do not 
constitute rents, rate, or other charges charged to, and collected from, the FMPA 
Participating Members for electric power and energy from the Project. Upon any such 
request by OUC to review the LTL Funds, the Parties may mutually agree that the LTL 
funds are reasonably sufficient for a permanent retirement decommissioning and 
coverage of the FMPA Retained Retirement Obligations (“Verified Funds”); provided, 
however, that the Parties hereby agree and acknowledge that the amount of the 
Verified Funds may be less than all LTL Funds held by FMPA. If such a determination is 
made and the amount of the Verified Funds are agreed to by the Parties, FMPA will 
transfer the amount of such Verified Funds to OUC, as mutually agreed, and FMPA will 
not, thereafter, be obligated or liable to OUC for any FMPA Retained Retirement 
Obligations, regardless of OUC’s actual costs for the Project (including third party 
claims related to the FMPA Retained Retirement Obligations); the actual costs of 
permanent retirement and decommissioning of the Project; and OUC’s ultimate 
operating, decommissioning, or retirement decisions and all related costs for the 
Project. 
 
  Even if a review of the LTL Funds is not requested by OUC from time to 
time, and in addition to any such request from OUC, FMPA will provide a report to OUC 
on the LTL Funds not less than once every three years, with the first such report due to 

Page 94 of 107



FMPA DRAFT 2/5/2026 

- 17 - 
 

OUC by no later than October 31, 2029, indicating the balance of the LTL Funds as of 
the end of the immediately preceding fiscal year of FMPA. 
 
  24.09 FMPA Retained Retirement Obligations and Liabilities. The Parties 
hereby agree that as of the Termination Closing FMPA’s obligations hereunder to 
contribute to, or reimburse OUC for, the cost of retirement, decommissioning, and final 
disposition of the Project is deemed by both Parties to be equal to FMPA’s rights 
hereunder to be credited or paid for its due share of the net salvage value of the 
Project. Therefore, FMPA hereby waives and discharges all claims against OUC in the 
future for any net salvage value credits or payment for the Project, and hereby releases 
to the account and benefit of OUC any and all net salvage value credits or payment 
that FMPA would have otherwise been entitled to pursuant to Paragraph 20.02. In 
return, and except as set forth below, OUC hereby waives and discharges all claims 
against FMPA in the future for all retirement, all decommissioning, and all final 
disposition costs of the Project and releases FMPA from all retirement, all 
decommissioning, and all final disposition costs related to the Project that would have 
otherwise been the obligation of FMPA pursuant to Paragraph 20.02. 
 
  Nothwithstanding the foregoing in this Paragraph 24.09, FMPA retains its 
retirement, decommissioning, and final disposition cost obligations related to the 
Project only for the following FMPA Retained Retirement Costs, which shall constitute 
Capital Additions Costs, payable in accordance with Paragraph 6.04: 
 

(a) Costs associated with ongoing landfill requirements, but only as 
such landfill requirements relate to the Project prior to the Termination Closing, 
which otherwise would have been incurred by FMPA if the Project had been 
permanently retired, decommissioned, and disposed of as of the FMPA 
Termination Date. 

 
(b) Environmental compliance costs associated with the Project after 

the FMPA Termination Date, which otherwise would have been incurred by FMPA 
if the Project had been permanently retired, decommissioned, and disposed of as 
of the Termination Closing Date; and 

 
(c) Safety and security related costs for the SEC Unit One Site after the 

FMPA Termination Date, which otherwise would have been incurred by FMPA if 
the Project had been permanently retired, decommissioned, and disposed of as of 
the FMPA Termination Date (collectively, Paragraph 24.09(a), (b), and (c), being 
the “Retained Retirement Obligations”). 

 
24.10  Determination of Allocated Pre- and Post-Termination Closing Liabilities. 

The Shutdown Committee shall perform the following activities in order to facilitate and 
determine the allocation of liabilities between the parties pre- and post- Termination Closing, 
for costs described in Paragraph 24.09(a).  

Page 95 of 107



FMPA DRAFT 2/5/2026 

- 18 - 
 

(a) The Shutdown Committee shall initiate a general assessment of the 
condition, percentage of capacity, and operational costs of the Project landfills as of the 
FMPA Termination Date and shall cause a report on the same to be prepared and 
approved by the Shutdown Committee, which shall be deemed to be Schedule 1 hereto, 
and a material part of this Agreement (“Baseline Landfill Conditions”). 

(b)  The Shutdown Committee will agree on a cost allocation methodology for 
the Baseline Landfill Conditions as well as future costs associated with the Project landfills 
as a result of the Project’s status of being in Extended Cold Shutdown or active operations 
(“Ongoing Landfill Conditions”) based on the principles set forth in (c) below.   

(c)  OUC and FMPA agree that allocation of Project landfill costs and liabilities 
shall be determined based on whether any such costs and liabilities were a part of the 
Baseline Landfill Conditions or whether they arose after the FMPA Termination Date.  

 

(1) FMPA and OUC will share, based on their Ownership Shares of the 
Project, all Baseline Landfill Conditions. The parties may agree on a payment 
methodology whereby FMPA is billed on an ongoing basis for such costs.  

(2)  OUC will bear any costs and liability to the extent attributable or 
related to all Ongoing Landfill Conditions. 

5. Amendment to Section 20, Retirement or Abandonment of Project   
 
A new Section 20.4 shall be added which reads as follows: 

20.4 Post-FMPA Termination Date Indemnity and Waiver 

 
OUC does hereby covenant and agree to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless 
FMPA, its officers, directors, agents and employees, harmless from and against 
any and all claims, suits, judgment, damages, losses and expenses (including 
reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs) or demands, including demands arising from 
injuries or death of third parties, to the extent attributed to or arising out of any 
negligent acts, errors, omissions or misconduct of OUC and OUC’s employees 
relating to operation of the Project after the FMPA Termination Date, including all 
Ongoing Landfill Conditions. 
 
OUC hereby waives all claims and rights to assert a claim against FMPA for any 
costs of the Project on and after the FMPA Termination Date, unless expressly 
provided for in Sections 23 and 24.   

 

Page 96 of 107



FMPA DRAFT 2/5/2026 

- 19 - 
 

6. Renumbering of Section 23 (Execution of Agreement) 
 
Current Section 23 (Execution of Agreement) of the Participation Agreement is hereby amended 
by renumbering it to be Section 25. 
 
7. Remaining Terms Unchanged 
 
Except as modified in this Amendment, all other terms and conditions of the Participation 
Agreement remain unchanged. 
 
8.  Counterparts 
 
This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts, and signature pages 
exchanged by facsimile, and each counterpart shall be regarded for all purposes as an original, 
and such counterparts shall constitute, but one and the same instrument, it being understood 
that both Parties need not sign the same counterpart. The signature page of any counterpart, and 
facsimiles and photocopies thereof, may be appended to any other counterpart and when so 
appended shall constitute an original. In the event that any signature is delivered by facsimile 
transmission or by facsimile signature, such signature shall create a valid and binding obligation of 
the party executing (or on whose behalf such signature is executed) the Amendment with the 
same force and effect as if such facsimile signature page were an original thereof. 
 

[Signature Page Follows]  

Page 97 of 107



FMPA DRAFT 2/5/2026 

- 20 - 
 

The Parties are signing this Amendment as of the date stated in the introductory clause. 
 

ORLANDO UTILITIES COMMISSION 
Approved as to form and legality 
OUC Legal Department 
 
By: _________     By: __________________________ 
Date: __________________ Clint Bullock 

General Manager and CEO 
 
 

FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY 
 
 
 
By:   

Jacob A. Williams 
General Manager and CEO 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 98 of 107



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 9 – INFORMATION 
ITEMS 
 
c. Meet Your Power Plant: Bartow 

Energy Center  
 

Board of Directors Meeting 
February 12, 2026 
 
 

Page 99 of 107



Board of Directors

9c – Meet Your Power Plant: 
Bartow Energy Center

February 12, 2026
Page 100 of 107



Bartow Energy Center

2Page 101 of 107



Latest Combined Cycle Plant in the FMPA Fleet

• As of January 1st, 2026, BEC had 4,403 hours since the last loss time and recordable. 
Just over 12 years.

• Since commissioning in May 1995 had been contracted to supply capacity and 
energy to Duke and TECO.

• Gross output is 106 MW, net 104 MW. 
• Cycled daily in the 7 summer months, twice daily over the 5 winter months.
• Major equipment at the facility includes:

 Two GE LM6000 PB Combustion Turbines with GE Model BDAX air cooled generators rated at 
42 MW each.

 One GE Fitchburg Steam Turbine with a GE 6A6 air cooled generator rated at 28 MW.
 Two Zurn Nepco HRSGs are a three-pressure level design without reheat.

3

Strong Historical Performance for Safety, Reliability & Cost

Page 102 of 107



Intermediate Unit With Site Potential For Future

• Staffing level is currently 11 hourly employees with two salary 
employees at BEC, and we share two more employees with MEC.

• Cold start is 90-minutes, 60 minutes from hot/warm. 10-minute 
shutdown from base load.

• Heat rate is 7,830 BTU/kWh without steam host, expect slightly lower 
with ZLD elimination.

• FGT and Gulfstream natural gas pipelines are 650’ east of the site, 
currently only connected to FGT.

• Site is 13.7 acres.

4

Lean Staffing Now Optimized With Mulberry

Page 103 of 107



Limited Life for LM 6000 PB Engines Drives Dispatch

• Four turbines available, two spares
• Operating under 15% capacity factor allows 15-yr lifespan
• Economics of replacement turbines being evaluated based on future 

capacity needs
• Replacement of turbines would not trigger permit requirements
• Balance of plant in good shape, sustainable for at least 20-years
• Working with OEM and third-party vendors for maintenance and life 

extension options

5

Treated as Peaker Despite Competitive Intermediate Heat Rate

Page 104 of 107



Evaluating Elimination of Zero Liquid Discharge

• The zero liquid discharge system is likely being retired and blowdowns 
will be sent to the City of Bartow municipal sewage system.

• EHS working with the City of Bartow and regulatory agencies.

• Benefits will be reduced chemical costs and equipment maintenance 
and an increased steam turbine output.

6

Potential for Up to $1M of Annual Savings

Page 105 of 107



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
AGENDA ITEM 10 – MEMBER 
COMMENTS 
 
 
Board of Directors Meeting 
February 12, 2026 
 
 
 
 

Page 106 of 107



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 11 – ADJOURNMENT   
 
 
Board of Directors Meeting 

 February 12, 2026 
 

Page 107 of 107


	FMPA BOARD OF DIRECTORS
	AGENDA
	1. Call to Order, Roll Call, Declaration of Quorum
	2. Recognition of Guests
	3. Public Comments
	4. Set Agenda
	5. Report from the General Manager – Winter Storm Fern Impacts and GoalsScorecard
	6. Sunshine Law Update
	7. Consent Agenda
	a. Approval of the Minutes for the Meeting Held January 15, 2026
	b. Approval of the Projects’ Preliminary Financials as of December 31, 2025
	c. Approval of the Treasury Reports as of December 31, 2025

	8. Action Items
	a. None

	9. Information Items
	a. Annual Debt Report
	b. Stanton Unit 1 Retirement Update
	c. Meet Your Power Plant: Bartow Energy Center

	10. Member Comments
	11. Adjournment



